

General Terms and Conditions of the Association of Companies Involved in Drugs and Chemicals Wholesale and Foreign Trade (VDC, Drogen- und Chemikalienverein e.V.) for their trading business (VDC Terms 2024)

The Association of Companies Involved in the Drugs and Chemicals Wholesale and Foreign Trade (Drogen- und Chemikalienverein e.V.) recommends use of the following General Terms and Conditions on a voluntary basis. Member companies and their contractual partners are therefore free to use different terms and conditions of business. The German original shall be authentic.

General Terms and Conditions

of the Association of Companies Involved in Drugs and Chemicals Wholesale and Foreign Trade (VDC, Drogen- und Chemikalienverein e.V.) for their trading business (VDC Terms 2024)

Contents

- Art.1 Scope
- Art. 2 Application of German Law
- Art. 3 Invalidity
- Art. 4 Definitions and other provisions
- Art. 5 Settlement notes of brokers, sales acknowledgements of representatives of shippers, brokerage
- Art. 6 Markings
- Art. 7 Dispatch, delivery and collection
- Art. 8 Description of goods/services and qualities of a sample
- Art. 9 Marketability of the goods
- Art. 10 Place of performance for documents
- Art. 11 Advice of shipment
- Art. 12 Documents in trust
- Art. 13 Rights of the Parties
- Art. 14 Non-conforming product
- Art. 15 Place of inspection, sampling, complaint, duties
- Art. 16 Extent of damages; foreseeability
- Art. 17 Letter of Credit
- Art. 18 Purchase "on approval of sample", and sensory inspection
- Art. 19 Purchase "on approval following analysis"
- Art. 20 Purchase "tel quel"
- Art. 21 Retention of title
- Art. 22 Sale subject to delivery from previous supplier
- Art. 23 Prescription
- Art. 24 Application of INCOTERMS
- Art. 25 Court of arbitration, Experts



Art. 1 Scope

- (1) The provisions set out in the following General Terms and Conditions of Business shall be an integral part of the Agreement concluded between the Parties. If the Parties have agreed other General Terms and Conditions of Business, they are free to provide therein for the supplementary applicability of these General Terms and Conditions.
- (2) If a broker's settlement note deemed approved under Art. 5 contains a reference to the applicability of these General Terms and Conditions, it is irrefutably presumed that the parties have agreed to their application.

Art. 2 Application of German Law

The substantive law of the Federal Republic of Germany shall further be applicable as valid at the time of conclusion of contract. The law on the "UN Convention of 11 April 1980 on Contracts for the Inter-national Sale of Goods (CISG)" of 5 July 1989 and/or any law superseding it shall not be applicable.

Art. 3 Invalidity

In the event that any provision of the Agreement is invalid, the remainder of the Agreement shall remain unaffected thereby. The invalid provision shall then be replaced by such provision as comes as close as possible to the economic purpose of such invalid provision, taking reasonable account of the interests of both Parties.

Art. 4 Definitions and other provisions

 Business days shall be working days with the exception of Saturdays and of 24th and 31st December. Recognised public holidays which differ between the countries involved shall be taken into account only in favour of the Party which has to make or receive a declaration on such a day, or which has to undertake an action on such a day.

- (2) The word "approximately" or "approx." ("circa") before the quantity agreed in the contract shall entitle the Seller to deliver up to 5% more or less, and to invoice in accordance with the contractual price units.
- (3) If these General Terms and Conditions or the contract require a declaration to be made in writing, text form is also permitted.

Art. 5 Settlement notes of brokers, sales acknowledgements of representatives of shippers, brokerage

- (1) Settlement notes of brokers and sales acknowledgements of representatives of shippers shall be sent to the Parties on the day of transaction of the relevant business and shall be deemed to be approved if no objections have been raised and served within two business days after receipt of such settlement note or sales acknowledgement by the other Party or by the issuer of such settlement note.
- (2) Unless otherwise agreed, the commission/ brokerage shall be paid by the Seller.

Art. 6 Markings

The Seller shall at his own cost provide for marking in accordance with the usual practice in the trade or as legally prescribed, in order to permit unequivocal identification of the package, unless different marking is specified by the Purchaser, provided that this does not conflict with legal requirements.

Art. 7 Dispatch, delivery and collection

- If "prompt" delivery has been specified for a spot transaction or domestic transaction, this shall mean delivery or collection within five business days from conclusion of contract; the period of grace shall be three business days.
- (2) If "prompt" dispatch, delivery or collection has been agreed for transportation within the States of the European Economic Area (EEA) or to/from Switzerland, such shipment, delivery or collection shall be effected within fourteen calendar days after conclusion of contract; the period of grace shall be five business days.
- (3) If "prompt" delivery or collection has been agreed for crossborder transportation with the exception of the countries mentioned under para. 2, shipment, delivery or collection shall be effected within thirty calendar days after conclusion of contract; the period of grace shall be fourteen calendar days.
- (4) If delivery "on call" is agreed, the latest call/ delivery date shall be specified in the contract. Depending on the contents of the contract, the Seller shall dispatch, place in readiness for collection, or deliver the quantity called within thirty calendar days after such call. In the event of spot or domestic transactions as defined in para. 1 and crossborder transportation within the meanings of paras. 2 and 3, the periods of grace specified therein shall be applicable for deliveries "on call".
- (5) In the case of shipping transactions (delivery for maritime transport, particularly on FOB or CIF basis), the agreement of a date shall be

deemed to be a fixed-date contract; no period of grace shall be required for the intended claiming of damages or for rescission of contract.

Art. 8 Description of goods/services and warranty of qualities

- Descriptions of goods and services are for informational purposes and do not constitute an obligation on the part of the Seller in the meaning of a warranty.
- (2) The qualities of a sample are only considered as agreed quality characteristics. This does not constitute a warranty.

Art. 9 Marketability of the Goods

- (1) Unless otherwise agreed, the Seller is obliged to deliver goods that comply with those legal requirements of the European Union that apply to the intended use of the goods as communicated by the Purchaser. If no such use is communicated by the Purchaser, the determination made by the Seller shall apply. The delivery of goods that are marketable is a principal performance within the meaning of Art. 13, para. 3.
- 2) If the goods are not marketable at the time of delivery due to a change in the law that was unforeseeable to the parties at the time of contract conclusion, and if the Seller is unable to obtain marketable goods in a timely manner or if this is not economically reasonable, the Seller may withdraw from the contract. The Seller is not obliged to pay damages. In the case of call-off contracts for imported goods, the agreed delivery time shall be decisive.

Art. 10 Place of performance for documents

The place of performance for the delivery and submission of documents shall be the registered place of business of the Purchaser.

Art. 11 Advice of shipment

The Seller shall be required to notify the Purchaser of shipment, without delay and by the fastest possible means, indicating date of shipment, means of transport, number of shipment paper, type of goods, number of packages, and quantity.

Art. 12 Documents in trust

Documents received in trust shall be returned to the Seller by 16.00 hours of the third business day following the day of delivery of such documents, otherwise such documents shall be considered approved by the Purchaser. If the Purchaser makes use of such documents without having been permitted by the Seller to do so, the documents shall be deemed to be approved.

Art. 13 Rights of the Parties

- If the debtor is in delay with fulfilment of a principal performance, the creditor can after elapse of a specified period of grace either continue to insist on performance or rescind the contract and claim damages for non-fulfilment.
- (2) Such period of grace must be at least three business days and need not exceed a maximum of fourteen business days. The specific provisions of Art. 7 remain unaffected thereby.
- (3) Principal performances shall be the delivery (shipping, collection) of the goods, delivery of

the documents, payment of the purchase price, call-off of the products, and any other performances described as principal performances in other provisions of the present General Terms and Conditions.

(4) The Seller is not in default as long as, and to the extent that, he is prevented from a principal performance due to ,force majeure' as defined in the clause on force majeure of the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) in its long form version applicable at the time of contract, and if a covering transaction is not possible or economically unreasonable for him. The Purchaser must be notified immediately of the occurrence of such an event. If waiting is unreasonable for the Purchaser or if the event lasts for more than four weeks since the notification, the Purchaser may withdraw from the contract. He is not entitled to claim for damages.

Art. 14 Non-conforming product

- In the event of the deficiency of plant-source raw materials the Purchaser may require rescission of the contract rather than reduction of purchase price only if the reduction in value exceeds 15% of the agreed contract price. However, this does not apply if, due to legal requirements, the Purchaser could not use the goods for the intended purpose.
- (2) In the case of fungible goods, the Seller shall not be required to provide replacement delivery, but shall be entitled to do so. The Purchaser may call upon the Seller to declare within three business days whether he will provide a replacement delivery or not. If the Seller makes no declaration, he shall lose his right to provide replacement delivery.

(3) If, in case of a generic good of plant - source raw material, a specific geographical origin of has been contractually agreed upon, only goods that correspond to this origin can be delivered, this being a principal performance in the meaning of Art. 13 para. 3. The same applies if a specific botanical species has been explicitly agreed upon.

Art. 15 Place of inspection, sampling, complaint, duties

- (1) The Purchaser is responsible for conducting an incoming goods inspection. The inspection of the goods shall take place at the destination. In case of pharmaceutical raw materials, the inspection shall take place at the Purchaser's premises. The Purchaser shall inform the Seller of the destination. The destination for the purposes of the following clauses shall be the place at which the Purchaser had or could have had his first opportunity to examine the goods following their arrival. By way of exception in the case of container shipment (shipment of the products by the Seller in a container), the destination shall be the place intended by the last recipient of the container for unloading the goods from the container.
- (2) Any complaints due to defects, wrong delivery and/or wrong quantity shall be made by the Purchaser to the Seller without delay, and not later than eight business days after delivery at the destination. Such complaint shall not be valid unless made in writing. If deficiencies are found such as could only be established by calling upon the services of a neutral expert or by laboratory analysis (hidden defects), the Purchaser can make valid complaint only if he effects delivery of such complaint within

three days after receiving the result of the analysis, or at the latest within thirty business days from arrival of the goods at the contractually defined destination. If a properly raised complaint does not reach the recipient, the complaint shall be deemed to be made in due time if the Purchaser issues a reminder for remediation of the defect within one month after the first making of the complaint, or if he makes a renewed complaint within that period.

- (3) In case of a drop delivery in which the goods are delivered by the Seller to a customer other than the Purchaser, it is sufficient to safeguard the rights of this Purchaser if he passes on to the Seller a proper notification effected in good time by his customer, without delay but at the latest within the periods specified in para. 2 above.
- (4) Proper testing requires the drawing of representative random samples in accordance with generally applicable or industrial standard rules and by a laboratory analysis if defects cannot be detected by a commercial or sensory inspection. In case of pharmaceutical raw materials, the applicable specific requirements and regulations must be observed.
- (5) Complaints need be acknowledged by the Seller only if the goods are in their original condition until he has the opportunity for examination of the complaint (to be effected without delay). "Original condition" means that, apart from a quantity required for examination purposes (this quantity to be generously defined), the Seller must not have started to process the goods, to unpack them or repack them, or to use them in any other way. The Purchaser shall give

the Seller the opportunity to convince himself of the non-conformity of the goods. In particular, he shall upon request make available without delay the goods which are subject of the complaint, or samples thereof.

- (6) If the goods are found not to be in conformity with the contract, the Purchaser shall not be permitted to remove from the contractual destination goods which are subject to complaint due to obvious defects and are still in their original condition, until their characteristics have been determined. For this purpose, an expert assessment by a mutually agreed neutral person or institution is required. An expert opinion in accordance with the VDC rules of procedures for experts meets this requirement. The determination can also be made by a sample, which is taken at the Purchaser's expense by a mutually appointed knowledgeable neutral sampler. Productspecific requirements and regulations must be observed.
- (7) If a complaint is not made in due time or not in the proper manner as specified in this Article, or if the Purchaser fails to fulfil or fails to fulfil properly any of his duties as set out in this Article, the goods shall be deemed to be approved.

Art. 16 Extent of damages; foreseeability

(1) The damages to be paid for a contractual violation by one Party shall comprise the loss incurred by the other Party as a consequence of the violation of the contract, including loss of profit. However such damages shall not exceed the loss which the infringing Party foresaw as a possible consequence of violation of contract at the time of conclusion of contract, or which it should have foreseen taking account of the circumstances which it knew or should have known.

- 2) In the case of a covering transaction, if it is clear that the contract is no longer to be executed, the difference between the contractual price and the price of the covering transaction may be claimed as damages; if a covering transaction is not carried out, the difference between the contractual price and the market price at the time of establishment of non-execution shall be effective; in either case, claims to further damages are not excluded.
- (3) The rules on claims for damage shall also be applicable in the case of personal liability of the legal representative or person employed by a Party for fulfilment of an obligation.
- (4) Any claims by the damaged Party on the basis of the Product Liability Act shall remain unaffected by the exclusions and restrictions of liability set out in these General Terms and Conditions.

Art. 17 Letter of Credit

If the Parties have agreed on the opening of a letter of credit for payment of the purchase price, the Purchaser shall open such letter of credit in due time before the beginning of the shipping or dispatch time. Ensuring timely opening of the letter of credit is a principal performance within the meaning of Art. 13 para. 3.

Art. 18 Purchase "on approval of sample", and sensory inspection

 In case of a plant-source raw material, a purchase "on approval of sample" is concluded on condition that the Purchaser accepts the sample. Unless the parties have agreed upon a different period, the sample shall be deemed to be accepted if the Purchaser has not declared the contrary within five business days of receipt of the sample.

- (2) The Seller shall submit to the Purchaser a sample which belongs to the type of product covered by the contract concluded, which corre sponds to the agreed designation of the goods, and which is of at least commercial fair average quality. For sales within the European Union or the EEA, the sample submitted shall be admissible for putting into circulation under the legal provisions of the EU applicable for the purpose of application of the product. The Seller shall be informed of the purpose of application in due time. The Purchaser must accept the sample if it meets the conditions of the present paragraph. The duties of this paragraph are principal performances within the meaning of Art. 13, para. 3.
- (3) The goods delivered may have a value inferior to the level of the sample by not more than 5%.

Art. 19 Purchase "on approval following analysis"

- In the event of a purchase "on approval following analysis", the approval of the sample shall be at the discretion of the Purchaser; the purchase shall be deemed effected if the Purchaser declares to the Seller that he wishes to accept the goods.
- (2) The Purchaser of a good of plant-source raw material must make such declaration not later than on the 21st business day after receipt of the sample. If he does not make such declaration in due time, the purchase shall be deemed

not to be effected.

- (3) The Seller shall be required to provide to the Purchaser a product which belongs to the agreed category of products, and which corresponds to the agreed designation of goods. This shall be a principal performance within the meaning of Art. 13, para. 3; the criterion for calculation of damage shall be goods of commercially fair average quality.
- (4) If in the case of goods made of non-plant source material the Purchaser has received a certificate of analysis instead of a sample, the paras. 1 and 2 above shall apply accordingly, with the proviso that the Purchaser must make a declaration not later than the fifth business day after receipt of the certificate of analysis.

Art. 20 Purchase "tel quel"

In the case of product purchased "tel quel" ("as is"), the Purchaser shall be obliged to accept any goods, regardless of their quality, which conform to the agreed type and goods description.

Art. 21 Retention of title

- Products delivered under retention of title shall remain the property of the Seller until complete fulfilment of the purchase price claim and fulfilment of all due, not-yet-due or conditional receivables resulting from mutual business relations, including any bills receivable.
- (2) Processing of goods subject to retention of title shall in all cases be deemed to be by order of the Seller, without any obligations thereby arising for the Seller. The Seller shall have title to any new object created by such processing.

If goods subject to retention of title are processed, mixed, blended or compounded with other goods not belonging to the Seller, the Seller shall have coproperty in the new object, in a proportion equivalent to the proportion between the value of the goods subject to retention of title and the value of the other goods at the time of processing, etc. The Purchaser transfers as of now any coproperty rights arising for him in the cases mentioned in the previous sentence, to the value of the goods subject to retention of title.

(3) The Purchaser shall be entitled, subject to the provisions of para. 7 below, to sell the goods subject to retention of title within the framework of the ordinary course of business, specifying retention of title. The Purchaser assigns to the Seller as of now and in advance all claims arising for him from any resale of the goods subject to retention of title or to any such goods arising from their processing, blending, mixing, or compounding. This shall apply even if the goods are sold together with other goods not belonging to the Seller at a single price. If a third party has acquired property or coproperty rights to the goods by statutory regulation as a result of processing, blending, mixing or compounding, the Purchaser hereby assigns to the Seller as of now and in advance any claims arising for him against such third party. Assignments under this paragraph shall always be effected only up to the amount of the value of the goods subject to retention of title. The Purchaser shall be entitled to collect the assigned claims until such time as this is revoked, which shall be permissible at any time.

title as defined in the previous paragraphs shall always be understood as the price which the Seller charged the Purchaser for the product (invoice price).

- (5) On request by the Purchaser, the Seller shall release goods subject to retention of title to be selected at his own option, and to the extent that their value exceeds the value of the claims to be secured by more than 20%.
- (6) If the validity of retention of title is dependent on the cooperation by the Purchaser, for example for registrations that may be required by the law of the Purchaser's country, the Purchaser shall effect such action. This shall be a principal performance within the meaning of Art. 13 para. 3.
- (7) If the Purchaser is in delay with payment, the Seller may prohibit the sale of goods subject to retention of title, or the processing, compounding, blending or mixing of such goods with other goods, or their removal, and may require the Purchaser to hand over the goods subject to retention of title or the processed goods resulting therefrom. The Purchaser shall be required to give notification without delay of anyattachment by third parties on goods for which rights of the Seller exist under the present provisions. The same shall apply to any claims assigned under the present provisions.

Art. 22 Sale subject to delivery from previous supplier

 In cases where the Seller makes a sale subject to correct and timely delivery to him by a previous supplier, or subject to an equivalent reservation, he shall be released from his obligation to deliver if the delivery from a corresponding previously concluded congruent covering contract is not at the contractual price, is not correct, is not in due time or is not supplied at all, provided that within a reasonable time he invokes such release from obligation to deliver. A purchase contract falls under the terms of this provision if on careful assessment it permitted the assumption of correct, complete and timely delivery to the Seller, and if at the time of the sale to the Purchaser it was verifiably intended by the Seller for procurement of the goods to be delivered by him. A clause stipulating that the transaction is subject to delivery from a previous supplier is not detrimental in a purchase contract as specified in sentence 2 of this paragraph. The Purchaser in the contract of sale shall be notified of the existence of such provision.

- (2) If and to the extent that delivery to the Seller is seriously endangered, the Seller shall inform the Purchaser of this without delay after becoming aware of it; otherwise he shall not be entitled to invoke such proviso of previous delivery.
- (3) On request by the Purchaser, the Seller shall be required to provide evidence to the Purchaser of a congruent covering contract within the meaning of para. 1, and to assign to him his claims arising thereby against his (previous) seller within fourteen business days after receipt of such request; otherwise the Seller forfeits the right to invoke such proviso of previous delivery.

Art. 23 Prescription

 Claims arising from non-conforming deliveries including claims for direct or indirect consequential harm caused by defect shall be timebarred in one year from the delivery of the goods.

(2) All other contractual or statutory claims of the Parties shall be time-barred at the latest in two years from the passing of the risk to the Purchaser.

Art. 24 Application of INCOTERMS

Any commercial terms agreed shall be applicable in the version of the INCOTERMS of the International Chamber of Commerce valid upon conclusion of contract.

Art. 25 Court of arbitration, Experts

- (1) Any disputes with respect to a contract concluded under these General Terms and Conditions, to its negotiations, to its validity and to its interpretation shall be settled in accordance with the VDC Rules of Arbitration adopted by the Assembly of Members of the Drugs and Chemicals Association (VDC) and in accordance with the VDC Rules of Procedure for Experts, by a Court of Arbitration of the Drugs and Chemicals Association or by its experts, unless otherwise stipulated in the contract. Once the proceedings have been concluded, the parties have recourse to the ordinary courts.
- 2) Procedure shall be conducted in accordance with the most up-to-date version of the provisions for courts of arbitration and experts. The arbitration clauses shall likewise be applicable with respect to the personally liable partners of the Contract Parties. The Court of Arbitration shall have exclusive powers to rule on the validity or otherwise of the contract and the arbitration clauses.
- (3) Paras. 1 and 2 above shall also be applicable to disputes between intermediaries or between intermediaries and the Contract Parties.

The above General Terms and Conditions of Business (Allgemeine Geschäftsbedingungen) version 2024 replace the former version notified to the Federal Cartel Office and published in the Federal Official Gazette No. 139 of 30 July 1997

Suggested form of citation:

General Terms and Conditions of the Drugs and Chemicals Association - VDC Terms 2024 Drugs and Chemicals Association (VDC), Sonninstrasse 28, 20097 Hamburg, Tel.: +49 40/23 60 16 0, vdc@wga-hh.de

